IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MARTIN COUNTY CONSERVATION ALLIANCE and 1000 FRIENDS OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Petitioners,

Case No. SC11-2455 First DCA Case No. 1D09-4956

v.

MARTIN COUNTY and DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS and MARTIN ISLAND WAY, LLC and ISLAND WAY, LC,

Respondents	R	es	g	on	$d\epsilon$	en'	t	S
-------------	---	----	---	----	-------------	-----	---	---

On Discretionary Review From The District Court Of Appeal, First District of Florida

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS (Accompanied by Appendix)

Richard Grosso, Esq.
Fla. Bar No. 592978
3305 College Avenue
Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33314
(P) 954-262-6140
(F) 954-262-3992
grossor@nsu.law.nova.edu
Attorney for Petitioners

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioners challenged, under Ch. 163, Part II, Fla. Stat., amendments to the Martin County Comprehensive Plan that expand development options within the County's "Agriculture" land use designation, and repeal a prohibition on extending central water and sewer service to the Secondary Urban Service District. In the administrative hearing, Petitioners argued that the amendments violated the governing law, Ch. 163, Part II, Fla. Stat. Petitioners indisputably had standing below. The Administrative Law Judge ("ALJ") entered a Recommended Order ruling that the amendments complied with the law, rejecting claims that they were vague and allowed density increases and inappropriate land uses. The Department of Community Affairs¹ ("Agency") accepted these recommendations and entered a Final Order ruling against the Petitioners on the merits. 73 So.3d at 859-861.

Petitioners' appeal to the First District Court of Appeal argued that the Agency's incorrect legal interpretations of the amendments led to erroneous findings that they would not allow adverse land use and environmental impacts. The appeal also asserted that the amendments were vague and violated the requirements for clear, predictable planning standards.² The Court

By subsequent action of the 2011 Legislature, Fla. SB 2156 (2011), the Agency was abolished and its responsibilities transferred to a newly-created Department of Economic Opportunity.

See Initial Brief at 10-49.

dismissed the appeal without reaching the merits, ruling that Petitioners were not "adversely affected by final agency action." Martin County Cons. Alliance v. Martin County, Dep't of Cmty. Affairs, 35 Fla. L. Weekly D1386 (Fla. 1st DCA June 21, 2010). The Court issued an Order to Show Cause why sanctions should not be imposed under Section 57.105, Fla. Stat. All parties responded. 73 So.3d at 857. The Agency asserted that sanctions were inappropriate. Id. at 871 (Van Nortwick, Dissenting).

On December 14, 2010, the Court issued an order granting a Motion for Attorneys' Fees and Costs filed by Appellee, Island Way under Section 120.595 (5), Fla. Stat., and an Opinion, with Judge Van Nortwick dissenting, ordering payment of attorneys' fees under Section 57.105, Fla. Stat. The basis for the award was the belief that the appeal was brought notwithstanding the rulings below that the amendments did not increase development density environmental impacts, and thus Petitioners could suffer "adverse effect" to support appellate standing. Martin Cnty. Cons. Alliance v. Martin Cnty., et. al., 35 Fla. L. Weekly D1386 (Fla. 1st DCA June 21, 2010), substituted decision, Martin Cnty. Cons. Alliance v. Martin Cnty., et. al., 73 So.3d 856 (Fla. 1st DCA Nov. 4, 2011).

The November 4, 2011 Sanction Order denied motions for rehearing and rehearing en banc, substituted itself for the June 1 Order, and ordered the payment of attorneys' fees. 73 So.3d at 857.

The basis for the ruling that the claim to appellate standing had no basis in material fact or law were:

- (1) The findings on the merits below that the amendments will not allow adverse impacts precluded Petitioners from being "adversely affected" by the agency action; and
- (2) Petitioners' claims that the amendments are vague, and allow density increases and inappropriate land uses were issues of fact, which had been decided below adverse to their position and were unreviewable on appeal as they were based upon competent substantial evidence. (73 So.3d at 860, 861, 863).

In a lengthy and "strong[]" dissent, Judge van Nortwick found that "this case is not close to providing a basis to impose sanctions", that this matter is "of exceptional importance", and that he was "concerned that the dismissal of this appeal for lack of standing was erroneous." 73 So.3d at 866-867, fn.1 (Van Nortwick, J. Dissenting). He wrote that the Sanction Order "fails to acknowledge the complexity of this appeal and ignores that the standing question was a close call." 73 So.3d at 871. (Van Nortwick J, dissenting). Petitioners' Motion for Rehearing En Banc was denied by an 8-6 vote, with one judge abstaining. 73 So.3d at 866, (n. 1) (Van Nortwick J, dissenting).

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

The Court has accepted jurisdiction to review a decision of the District Court of Appeal that expressly and directly conflicts

with decisions of the Supreme Court and other district courts on the same point of law. Article V, Section 3(b), Fla. Const.; Rule 9.030(2)(A)(iv), Fla.R.App.P.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

An award of attorneys' fees that is based upon a question of law, as in the instant case, is reviewed de novo. Freedom Commerce Centre, Venture, Inc. v. Ranson, 823 So. 2d 817, 820 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); Country Place Cmty. Ass'n, Inc. v. J.P. Morgan Mortg. Acquisition Corp., 51 So.3d 1176, 1179 (Fla. 2nd D.C.A. 2010)(ruling that a trial court's decision regarding fees based on determination of standing, which in turn depended an interpretation of a contract, is reviewed de novo); Stevens v. Zakrzewski, 826 So.2d 520, 521 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (reviewing de novo an award of fees based upon an interpretation of a contract). See also Sosa v. Safeway Premium Finance Co., 73 So.3d 91, 105 (Fla. 2011)(stating that the Florida Supreme Court "reviews a district court's application and conclusions of law de novo."); D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003)(holding that the standard of review for questions of law is de novo, under which no deference is given to the judgment of the lower court.) Orders of dismissal based on lack of standing are reviewed de novo. Agee v. Brown, 73 So.3d 882, 885 (Fla. 4th DCA 2011).3

^{3.} Generally, an appellate court will review a lower court's order assessing attorney's fees for an abuse of discretion.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Sanction Order is based upon erroneous legal rulings that conflict with controlling or overwhelming precedent, and is unsupported by the record.

First, the Order erroneously relied on the rulings on the merits below to find the lack of appellate standing upon which it based the award of attorneys' fees. The clear law is that outcome of a case on the merits cannot determine standing, which is a completely separate inquiry. Second, the Order characterized Petitioners' appellate claims about the ambiguity and legal effect of the comprehensive plan amendments as factual issues, but the Florida Supreme Court has ruled that interpretation of such plans is an issue of law, not fact. Third, the Order erroneously ruled that the dismissal of the appeal for lack of standing required sanctions when the Supreme Court has ruled exactly to the contrary.

Distefano Constr., Inc. v. Fidelity and Deposit Co. of Maryland, 248, 250 (Fla. 1992)(upholding trial court's determination as to the number reasonable hours spent on a case). Walker v. Cash Register Auto Insurance of Leon County, Inc. 946 So. 2d 66, 72 (Fla. $1^{\rm st}$ DCA 2006)(deferring to a trial court's evaluation of the evidence). The rationale underlying this standard emphasizes the trial court's superior position to "see[] the parties first-hand" and assess their procedural actions. Mercer v. Raine, 443 So. 2d 944, 945-46 (Fla. 1983). This standard acknowledges a trial judge's unique position to assess the credibility of witnesses and determine facts. Tramel v. Bass, 672 So. 2d 78, 83 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996). The "abuse of discretion" standard applies a test of reasonableness. Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). Petitioners submit that the de novo standard applies, but that the Sanction Order should be reversed under either standard of review.

Fourth, the Sanction Order's view that there were no material facts that could possibly support the assertion of standing inexplicably ignored substantial relevant testimony presented below that went beyond a good faith effort and was adequate to support standing.

The Supreme Court should find that the Sanction Order was premised upon clearly erroneous legal rulings, ignored the record, and imposed sanctions in violation of the governing standard. The Court should also rule that the record adequately supported appellate standing under Section 120.68, Fla. Stat.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE SANCTION ORDER IS BASED ON CLEARLY ERRONEOUS LEGAL CONCLUSIONS AND IS REFUTED BY THE RECORD
 - A. The Sanction Order Violated the Fee Shifting Standards in Sections 57.105 and 120.595(5), Fla. Stat. by Imposing Sanctions for an Appeal That Was Grounded in Law and Fact.

The Sanctions Order, over a strong dissent, and with 6 judges voting to rehear the case en banc, sanctioned nonprofit organizations' good faith appeal of an agency's rulings regarding the proper legal interpretation of comprehensive plan changes. It's basis - that Petitioners appealed in the face of binding factual findings that the agency action would not allow adverse impacts - was legally incorrect. The relevant findings below were legal interpretations, not factual findings. It's legal premise - that the outcome on the merits below determines the existence of appellate standing - is contrary to clear Florida law. The ruling

that the assertion of appellate standing was so groundless as to require the imposition of sanctions ignored the record, as well as Supreme Court and district court precedent in the relevant areas of law. This is not a case where a party used the courts for improper economic or personal advantage, or engaged in unethical or baseless legal behavior in disregard of procedural and substantive rules or clear case law. Petitioners, who had standing below, appealed legal rulings that they in good faith believed to violate the governing law. That the appeal was dismissed based on a debatable ruling that Petitioners' standing record did not meet the narrative standing test does not suggest, and neither does the record of this case, that the appeal was in any way the type of action that \$\$57.105(1) and 120.595 (5), Fla. Stat. are meant to deter.

In Yakonis v. Dolphin Petroleum, Inc., 934 So. 2d 615 (Fla. 4th DCA 2006), the Fourth District explained that § 57.105:

"must be applied carefully to ensure that it serves the purpose for which it was intended, which was to deter frivolous pleadings. (internal citation omitted). 4

Sanctions are appropriate only when a claim is completely unsupported by the facts or law. Boca Burger Inc. v. Forum, 912 So. 2d 561, 570 (Fla. 2005). Being in derogation of Florida's common law, the §57.105(1), Fla. Stat. fee-shifting exceptions to the American Rule must be strictly construed. Campbell v. Goldman, 959

 $^{^3}$ See also, <u>Mullins v. Kennelly</u>, 847 So. 2d 1151, 1154 (Fla. 5th DCA 2003) (noting that the central purpose of section

So.2d 223 (Fla. 2007); Dade County v. Pena, 664 So.2d 959 (Fla. 1995); Finkelstein v. North Broward Hospital District, 484 So.2d 1241 (Fla. 1986); Sunbeam Enterprises, Inc. v. Upthegrove, 316 So.2d 34 (Fla. 1975). In Moakley v. Smallwood, 826 So. 2d 221 (Fla. 2002) the Court cautioned that:

"an appropriate balance must be struck between condemning as unprofessional or unethical litigation tactics undertaken solely for bad faith purposes, while ensuring that attorneys will not be deterred from pursuing lawful claims, issues, or defenses on behalf of their clients or from their obligation as an advocate to zealously assert the clients' interests... ." Id. at 226.(emphasis added).

In the instant case, the dissent observed that:

"The courts must apply section 57.105 . . . carefully to ensure that it serves the purpose for which it was intended [to decrease the cost of employing the civil justice system]. If an order dismissing a claim or striking a defense routinely leads to a motion for attorney's fees, the point of the statute would be subverted and, in the end, it might even have the reverse effect of making civil litigation more expensive. The need to adjudicate multiple fee claims in the course of a single case could create conflicts between lawyers and their clients, and it could take time away from the court's main objective; that is, to resolve controversy presented by the case." 73 So.3d at 868, Van Northwick, J., Dissenting.(quoting Bridgestone/Firestone, Inc. v. Herron, 828 So. 2d 414, 419 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002).

Section 120.595(5), Fla. Stat., the basis for the grant of the intervener's motion for fees and costs in this case, authorizes discretionary awards of attorney's fees and costs for appeals that are "frivolous, meritless, or an abuse of the appellate process..."

^{57.105} is, and always has been, to deter meritless filings.

§120.595(5), Fla. Stat. (2009). This requires a showing that an appeal "presents no justiciable question and is so devoid of merit on the face of the record that there is little, if any, prospect whatsoever that it can ever succeed" and "imposes a greater burden than the standard under section 57.105." 73 So. 3d at 867, fn. 2. Van Nortwick J Dissenting (citing Procacci Commercial Realty, Inc. v. Dep't of Health & Rehab. Servs., 690 So. 2d 603, 609 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997); Treat v. State ex. rel. Mitton, 121 Fla. 509, 510-511, 163 So. 883, 883-884 (1935); and Consultech of Jacksonville, Inc. v. Dep't of Health, 876 So. 2d 731, 736 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)). Under § 120.595(5), Fla. Stat. a "frivolous appeal" is "not merely one:

"that is likely to be unsuccessful. It is one that is so readily recognizable as devoid of merit on the face of the record that there is little, if any, prospect whatsoever that it can ever succeed. [citation omitted] It must be one so clearly untenable, or the insufficiency of which is so manifest on a bare inspection of the record and assignments of error [or briefs, in keeping with modern practice], that its character may be determined without argument or research. An appeal is not frivolous where a substantial justiciable question can be spelled out of it, or from any part of it, even though such question is unlikely to be decided other than as the lower court decided it, i.e., against appellant or plaintiff in error." Procacci, 690 So. 2d at 609 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997) (quoting Treat v. State ex rel. Mitton, 121 Fla. 509, 510-11, 163 So. 883, 883-84 (1935)).

In de Vaux v. Westwood Baptist Church, 953 So. 2d 677 (2007), this Court said that a "frivolous position is one that a lawyer:

"of ordinary competence would recognize as so lacking in merit that there is no substantial possibility that the tribunal would accept it." (citation omitted).

As explained in the instant case by the dissent:

"[I]n Wendy's, 865 So. 2d at 524 (quoting Visoly, 768 So. 2d at 491), we explained that there are established guidelines for determining when an action is frivolous. These include where a case is found: (a) to be completely without merit in law and cannot be supported by a reasonable argument for an extension, modification or reversal of existing law; (b) to be [contradicted] by overwhelming evidence; (c) as having been undertaken primarily to delay or prolong the resolution of the litigation, or to harass or maliciously injure another; or (c) [sic] as asserting material factual statements that are false. These cases establish rigorous standards that must be applied before awarding sanctions under section 57.105 which restrain a court's authority to levy sanctions. 73 So.2d at 867-868, Van Nortwick, J., Dissenting.

As applied to this case, the dissent wrote that:

"in my view, it cannot be said that the appellants' standing arguments here are 'completely untenable,' ..., 'completely lacking in merit,' ... or that appellants are asserting a position that 'a lawyer of ordinary competence would recognize as so lacking in merit that there is no substantial possibility that the tribunal would accept it.'" 73 So.2d at 867-868, Van Nortwick, J., Dissenting. (citations omitted).

This case bears no resemblance to the egregious situations in which courts have appropriately sanctioned a party for blatant disregard of clear substantive or procedural law. This case is instead the same as those where courts have denied attorneys' fees because losing parties had asserted "arguable" claims in good faith. See e.g. Wendy's of N.E. Florida, Inc. v. Vandergriff, 865 So. 2d 520, 523 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003); Mason v. Highlands County Bd. of County Comm'rs, 817 So. 2d 922, 923 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); Tampa Bay I, L.L.C. v. Lorello Cypress Family Ltd., 821 So. 2d 434 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002); Peyton v. Horner, 920 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006);

McMonigle v McMonigle, 932 So. 2d 369 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006); Shulmister v. Yaffe, 912 So. 2d 53 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005)(reversing an attorneys fees award to prevailing party where there was at least some evidence to support the losing parties claim; Vasquez v. Provincial South, Inc., 795 So.2d 216 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)(reversing an attorneys fees award against a party who could have prevailed had the court accepted its interpretation of an ambiguous statute).

Petitioners' good faith assertion of appellate standing does not come close to offending either statute. The dissent expressed "deep concern" over the "chilling effect" on good faith efforts to seek appellate redress by parties without deep pockets, and the potential denial of the Florida Constitution's right of access to courts. 73 So.3d at 872. (Van Nortwick, J. Dissenting). The Sanction Order, the dissent wrote, "applies such a liberal standard that, if sustained, the precedent established will increase the use of sanctions under section 57.105 in contravention of the intent of the statute." 73 So.3d at 867. The dissent was "deeply concerned":

"that, by imposing sanctions in a case such as this, we will necessarily have a 'chilling effect' on innovative legal argument and appropriate zealous representation, especially in complex and evolving areas of the law. If excessive use of sanctions chills vigorous advocacy, attorneys will not accept close cases, access to the courts will be restricted, and wrongs will not be addressed. Moreover, the precedent being set by this order will unduly discourage participation in the appellate process. This sanction order holds, in effect, that where a final order has found that the appellants would not be adversely affected by a development an assertion of appellate standing to challenge such order

will inevitably result in section 57.105 sanctions. Such a liberal use of section 57.105 will lead to the intolerable development that only those with deep pockets, who can run the risk of sanctions if they lose, will seek appellate redress. Parties such as an average citizen, small business, or nonprofit organization, in good faith seeking review of a ruling that is reasonably believed to be erroneous, could be coerced into forgoing an appeal because they would be unable to risk their financial existence to potential sanctions. This chilling effect is especially present in cases in which a local nonprofit environmental organization, such as MCCA, challenges a development order impacting its community. In my view, such a chilling effect will not only reduce the ability of citizens to challenge environmentally adverse real estate development, but may constitute a denial of the guarantee of access to courts provided in Article I, section 21 of our State's Constitution: `The courts shall be open to every person for redress of any injury, and justice shall be administered without sale, denial or delay'." 73 So. 3d at 870, Van Nortwick, J., Dissenting. (emphasis in original)⁵

The Sanction Order unduly restricts appellate review of a wide variety of agency orders. If allowed to stand, it may ensure that no citizen will ever again avail themselves of statutory remedies regarding environmental and land use matters. Any doubt as to whether to appeal an adverse agency order will preclude an appeal, for fear of having to pay attorneys fees regardless of a good faith belief of reversible error. Parties with legitimate claims, but arguable appellate standing, would likely abandon their statutory rights to administrative hearings, because the inability to appeal an agency order largely negates the right to that hearing.

At least one commentator has observed that the Sanction Order has "profound implications." Hauser, Attorney's Fees in Florida, Ch.9 $\S 9.01[2][k]$ (2nd ed. Matthew Bender).

An abuse of discretion in the award of attorneys' fees exists where "no reasonable person would have taken the view adopted by the ... court". Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So.2d 1197, 2003 (Fla. 1980). It was unreasonable for the Sanction Order to rule that (1) the interpretation of a land use plan is a factual issue, rather than a legal interpretation; (2) standing depends on the outcome on the merits below; (3) the perceived lack of standing required the imposition of sanctions; and (4) Petitioners' claim of appellate standing was factually or legally groundless. Petitioners' claim to appellate standing was well grounded in law and fact. The Sanction Order was premised on clearly erroneous legal conclusions.

B. The Sanction Order Is Based On Clearly Erroneous Legal Conclusions.

The Sanctions Order Improperly Relied on the Rulings on the Merits Below to Find a Lack of Appellate Standing

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