IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC11-2455

District Court Case No. 1D09-4956

Division of Administrative Hearings Case Nos. 08-1144GM & 08-1465GM

MARTIN COUNTY CONSERVATION ALLIANCE and 1000 FRIENDS OF FLORIDA, INC.,

Petitioners,

VS.

MARTIN COUNTY, DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY AFFAIRS, MARTIN ISLAND WAY, LLC, and ISLAND WAY, LC, Respondents.

RESPONDENT MARTIN COUNTY'S ANSWER BRIEF

STEPHEN FRY
County Attorney

DAVID A. ACTON
Senior Assistant County Attorney

Martin County Administrative Center 2401 SE Monterey Road Stuart, FL 34996-3322

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

consideration of the applicable law of appellate standing, and review of Petitioners' and Respondents' responses to the court's order to show cause why sanctions should not be imposed. Only then did the district court enter an order making the requisite finding that Petitioners and their attorneys (all of whom participated in creating the record below) knew or should have known they had failed to meet their burden of proving what they needed to establish in order to demonstrate standing to appeal.

This case is not in conflict with the decision in *Mason v. Highlands County*, 817 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2002). There, the trial court had dismissed Mason's complaint and granted the county's motion for attorney's fees, but made no findings. Here, the district court did *exactly* what the Second District Court of Appeal said was necessary, making the necessary findings required by section 57.105(1):

"Here, Appellants and their counsel, who have experience in this area of the law, ignored controlling case law and filed an appeal where no evidence was presented in the administrative forum that the challenged agency action adversely affected Appellants' interests, as required to establish appellate standing under section 120.68. ... [N]o possible view of the evidence presented at the final hearing below would support a reasonable conclusion that Appellants had standing to appeal."

73 So. 3d at 865. The district court's finding in this regard does not constitute an abuse of its discretion, notwithstanding the dissenting district court judge's opinion in this case. "If reasonable men could differ as to the propriety of the action taken by the ... court, then the action is not unreasonable and there can be no finding of an abuse of

discretion." Canakaris v. Canakaris, 382 So. 2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980).

The district court's November 2011 order imposing sanctions also is not in conflict with the decision in *Peyton v. Horner*, 920 So. 2d 180 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2006). There, an imposition of sanctions by the trial court was reversed because the district court found, *upon reviewing the record below*, that an assignment of rights to enforce deed restrictions on the defendants' property and other lots in the same development "was not artfully worded" and "susceptible to two interpretations." *Id.* at 183. The district court then found that the issue on which defendants had prevailed "was not so cut and dried that either the [plaintiff] or its attorney knew or should have known that it was not supported by the material facts necessary to establish standing." *Id.* at 184. Here, the First District Court of Appeal applied the same rule of law, but reached a different result due to the dissimilar factual circumstances.

"We disagree with [Petitioners] that the law on standing is so fact specific and subjective that such a dispute can never be the subject of sanctions. Although [Petitioners] presented admissible evidence below that a few of their members had legitimate environmental interests in challenging the comprehensive plan amendments ..., they failed to present any competent evidence that the amendments, if implemented, would adversely affect them. In [Florida Chapter of the] Sierra Club [v. Suwannee Am. Cement Co., Inc., 802 So. 2d 520 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)], we held in clear terms that merely because members of an association might cite a general interest in the use of an affected natural resource, it must provide specific facts concerning a member who is individually adversely affected."

73 So. 3d at 862, (emphasis added). From the foregoing, and numerous similar

statements throughout the district court's order, it is as clear as can be that the imposition of sanctions was not "automatic" in this case, but was the result of a well founded exercise of the district court's discretion after finding a record that was devoid of evidence that any of the members of either Petitioner would be **adversely** affected by the enactment of either the Land Protection Amendment or the Urban Services Amendment.

4. The district court correctly found that Petitioners failed to prove by competent substantial evidence presented during the administrative hearing that there was a reasonable possibility that a substantial number of the members of either Petitioner would have their interests <u>adversely</u> affected by either Amendment.

Petitioners persist in their initial brief to emphasize and exaggerate the significance of the testimony and evidence they presented during the administrative hearing to establish the *interests* of the 9 members who testified. Yet from their arguments to this Court, it appears that Petitioners remain oblivious to the importance of the word "adversely" in section 120.68, Florida Statutes. To put it simply, Petitioners' protestations that they proved some of their members had "interests" is not disputed, but Petitioners' claims that they presented evidence proving that such interests of a substantial number of their members would be "adversely affected" are entirely untrue, and were properly rejected by the district court.

It is readily apparent from reviewing the record of testimony given during the

administrative hearing by the officers and members of the two Petitioners that they actually were attempting to prove both (A) that Petitioners themselves would be adversely affected, and thus have standing to appeal, and (B) that a substantial number of the members of each Petitioner would be adversely affected, and thus Petitioners would have so-called "associational standing" to appeal, too. See Fla. Home Builders Ass'n v. Dep't of Labor & Employment Security, 412 So. 2d 351, 353 (Fla. 1982); NAACP, Inc. v. Fla. Bd. of Regents, 863 So. 2d 294, 300 (Fla. 2003). It is also readily apparent from reviewing the testimony, however, that several of Petitioners' witnesses offered no testimony whatsoever about any adverse consequences to them personally from the Land Protection Amendment, and that most of Petitioners' witnesses (6 of 10) offered no testimony whatsoever about any adverse consequences to them personally from the Urban Services Amendment. Significantly, there was no testimony that any member of either Petitioner actually had any ownership interest in, occupied a residence on, or operated a business from any land that would be subject to either the potential clustering of residential development on such land pursuant to the Land Protection Amendment or that would be able to use public water and sewer services for the first time under the Urban Services Amendment.

It is important to note, furthermore, that the testimony of the executive director of Audubon of Martin County was only applicable to the possible standing of MCCA,

of which Audubon was an "organizational member," (Braun: Tr. Vol. V, 8), but not to the possible standing of 1000 Friends since there was no testimony about any affiliation of any kind between it and Audubon. Such testimony also applied only to Petitioners' challenge to the Land Protection Amendment, since no testimony was elicited from the witness about Audubon being adversely affected by the Urban Services Amendment, (Braun: Tr. Vol. V, 10). Finally, that witness' testimony is a perfect example of how Petitioners' actually failed to prove any adverse effects to their members. While Petitioners emphasize that the witness claimed (1) that future residential development of the large tracts of land near the Audubon-owned property pursuant to the Land Protection Amendment would result in the fragmentation of such property into smaller tracts and (2) that such fragmentation would adversely impact certain species of birds which require habitats consisting of large undeveloped swaths of land, (Braun: Tr. Vol. V, 14), Petitioners ignore the witness' admissions on crossexamination that the very same fragmentation could occur even without any of the comprehensive plan changes enacted Land Protection Amendment since current zoning already allows the adjoining landowners to subdivide their property into numerous residential lots of 5 acres each, (Braun: Tr. Vol. V, 24-25), resulting in exactly the same "fragmentation" that Petitioners are attributing exclusively to the Land Protection Petitioners did not dispute this already existing possibility of Amendment.

fragmentation at the hearing, nor offer any contrary evidence about it, nor contest the truth of it in any of their post-hearing pleadings on appeal.

The testimony on standing presented by Petitioners can best be summarized as subjective statements of personal belief that the future recreational experiences of the members *might* be – to borrow a term from *Florida Rock Properties v. Keyser*, 709 So. 2d 175 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) – less "bucolic" than they have been in the past. The bulk of the testimony from the 9 witnesses who were members of either 1000 Friends or MCCA, or both, was very generalized and non-specific. The common thread was not that either Amendment would adversely affect any of them *personally*, but that *everyone in Martin County* would be harmed should either Amendment take effect. (*See, e.g.,* Fielding: Tr. Vol. VI, 211-212; Hurchalla: Tr. Vol. IV, 249-250.)

There is no basis for disturbing the finding of the district court that "no possible view of the evidence presented at the final hearing below would support a reasonable conclusion that Appellants had standing to appeal. This is precisely the type of litigation the Legislature meant to prevent when it amended section 57.105 in 1999." 73 So. 3d at 865.

The evidence offered by Petitioners in this case is very similar to that offered in two prior cases involving one of the Petitioners and the same attorney: O'Connell v. Fla. Dep't of Community Affairs, 874 So. 2d 673 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004), and Melzer v.

Fla. Dep't of Community Affairs, 881 So. 2d 623 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). In both cases, MCCA was also a petitioner and appellant, represented by the same attorney who has represented it throughout this case. In each case, MCCA (and other appellants) sought judicial review of an administrative final order finding a challenged Martin County comprehensive plan amendment "in compliance," but each appeal was dismissed for lack of standing because MCCA failed to prove that it or a substantial number of its members would be adversely affected by the challenged amendments. Together, the O'Connell and Melzer cases established for the first time that the principles of appellate standing in administrative cases applied equally to appeals from final orders of the Department of Community Affairs finding comprehensive plan amendments "in compliance."

Although Petitioners certainly called more witnesses in this case to testify concerning *their interests* than MCCA did in either *O'Connell* or *Melzer*, Petitioners still failed to offer any proof that the challenged amendments would **adversely** affect such interests of the members, just as MCCA had failed to do in both previous cases. As the district court stated in the November 2011 order imposing sanctions:

"In Appellants' response to our order to show cause, they repeat their argument of legitimate interests in the administrative proceeding. Once again, this is not the issue; the relevant inquiry is whether these legitimate environmental issues were adversely affected, thus justifying an appeal under section 120.68."

73 So. 3d at 863. The district court's June 2010 decision dismissing Petitioners' appeal thus represents the "third strike" for MCCA and its attorney, who persist in appealing adverse administrative rulings that uphold the County's amendments to its comprehensive plan despite an inability to demonstrate that MCCA or a substantial number of its members would be adversely affected by the amendments in question.

Petitioners' attempts to distinguish the O'Connell and Melzer precedents from this case by characterizing the amendments in the earlier cases as enactments that addressed site-specific situations and characterizing the amendments in this case as enactments that addressed broader policy matters is in fact a difference without a legally significant distinction. See also Petitioners' Reply Brief below, 8-10, where such an argument was first made. The first fatal flaw in Petitioners' argument is that the comprehensive plan amendments involved in the O'Connell and Melzer cases were most certainly not "site-specific" changes. Both cases involved amendments that had prospective county-wide impact. The opinion in the Melzer case first addressed the purpose of the earlier amendment that was litigated in the O'Connell case:

"[T]he record in O'Connell shows that the amendment determined that more land was necessary for commercial use throughout the county and adopted new methods for making decisions in the future to allow commercial use."

881 So. 2d at 624, (emphasis added). The opinion in the *Melzer* case then addressed the purpose of the amendment that was litigated in that case:

"The comprehensive plan, prior to amendment, had stringent requirements for the protection of wetlands and other natural resources. The amendments give the county more flexibility in locating schools and other public facilities near those areas."

Id. It is plainly obvious, even from these brief excerpts, that the comprehensive plan amendments in both cases were far from just "site-specific" changes as Petitioners contend. Petitioners' argument in this case that it was advocating for a modification of the law based upon the "site specific" versus "general" character of comprehensive plan amendments was thus doomed to fail because it rested on the flawed assumption that there is any meaningful distinction between the nature of the plan amendments in this case and those involved in the O'Connell and Melzer cases.

5. The cases cited by Petitioners for interpretation of the word "adverse" (or something similar) in other statutes are inapposite to the review of the district court's November 2011 order imposing sanctions.

The district court's June 2010 decision dismissing Petitioners' appeal for lack of standing under section 120.68, Florida Statutes, is not under review in this case. Consequently, the district court's interpretation and application of the terms used in that statute when deciding whether Petitioners had standing are not at issue here.

Petitioners' argument that this Court should nevertheless consider whether their standing to appeal is "supported" by how other cases were decided when the issue of standing was raised under some *other statute* that also contains the word "adverse" (or something similar) is nothing more than an effort to re-visit the dismissal decision of

the district court rather than focus on the subsequent order imposing sanctions. How the word "adverse" (or something similar) was interpreted in a case under section 120.57, Florida Statutes, that involved an environmental permit or in a case under section 163.3215, Florida Statutes, that involved the consistency of a development order with the local comprehensive plan, is inapposite to what is now before this Court: review of the November 2011 order imposing sanctions under section 57.105(1), Florida Statutes, in a case where the order dismissing the appeal filed pursuant to section 120.68, Florida Statutes, has become final.

Petitioners' continued attempts to analogize standing under section 120.68 to standing under section 163.3215 are especially inappropriate. As the district court noted in its November 2011 order imposing sanctions, section 163.3215 was amended to provide more standing than previously existed at common law, creating a "broad and liberal standing threshold for persons with environmental interests to show they are aggrieved or adversely affected to challenge development." 73 So. 3d at 864, citing Nassau County v. Willis, 41 So. 3d 270, 276-278 (Fla. 1st DCA 2010). As the district court further noted, "by contrast, section 120.68 narrowly provides standing only to parties whose legitimate interests are adversely affected in some concrete manner." Id.

Petitioners' invocation of cases involving standing under other statutes that have more liberalized standing requirements than section 120.68 should be disregarded.

II. THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE JUNE 2010 ORDER OF THE DISTRICT COURT DISMISSING PETITIONERS' APPEAL FOR LACK OF STANDING

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